
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have saved the Authority approx. £14.07 in printing costs 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
AGENDA 
 

Committee 
 
 

STANDARD AND ETHICS SUB COMMITTEE (HEARINGS PANEL) 
 

Date and Time  
of Meeting 
 

 6, 7 & 8 JANUARY 2020, 9.00 AM 
 

Venue  
 
 

ROOM C - CITY HALL, CATHAYS PARK, CARDIFF 
 

Membership 
 
 

Independent Members - James Downe and Hollie Edwards-Davies 
Community Councllor Stuart Thomas  
 

1   Election of Chair for the Panel   
 

2   Apologies for Absence (if any)   
 

3   Declarations of Interest   
 

4   Minutes   
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2019 which are 
exempt from publication pursuant to regulation 26 (2A) of the Standards 
Committee (Wales) Regulations 2001. (To follow) 

 
5   Ombudsman Referral of a complaint against Councillor Neil McEvoy  

 
Appendices B, Bi, Bii, C and D to this item are exempt from publication 
pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 4, 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 16; and Regulation 26(2A) of the Standards 
Committee (Wales) Regulations 2001.  The public may be excluded from the 
meeting by resolution of the Committee. 

 
 

Recording of the hearing proceedings (by any means whatsoever) is likely to be 
prohibited pursuant to the Committee Meeting Procedure Rules, Rule 18 (b)(v) 

 
 
 
Davina Fiore 
Director Governance & Legal Services 
Date:  30 December 2019 
Contact:  Kate Rees, 02920 872427, KRees@cardiff.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CARDIFF COUNTY COUNCIL 

STANDARD AND ETHICS COMMITTEE 

PROCEDURE FOR HEARINGS (OMBUDSMAN REFERRALS) 

 Adopted by Standard and Ethics Committee on 1st July 2019  

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Standard and Ethics Committee (‘the Committee’) needs to have in 
place effective and efficient procedures for dealing with Hearings in respect 
of an allegation that a County Councillor, Community Councillor or co-opted 
member of any committee or sub committee in Cardiff has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct adopted by his/her respective Authority.  

1.2 The Committee has adopted a separate procedure for conducting hearings 
under the Local Resolution Protocol. 

1.3 Standard and Ethics Committee Hearings may also be required to 
determine a complaint referred to the Committee by the Ombudsman 
under Part 3 of the Local Government Act 2000 (‘the Act’).  This may 
occur as the result of either: 

(a) The Ombudsman ceasing an investigation and referring the 
matter to the Council's Monitoring Officer (under section 70(4) of 
the Act). The Monitoring Officer must then investigate the matter 
and report on the conclusion of his/her investigation to the 
Standard and Ethics Committee. 

(b) The Ombudsman undertaking an investigation and then 
referring the matters which are the subject of the investigation to 
the Monitoring Officer (under section 71(2) of the Act), for 
reporting to the Standard and Ethics Committee. 

1.4 The following procedure should be used in respect of both instances  of 
Ombudsman referrals set out above and provides the Standard and Ethics 
Committee with a consistent approach in determining matters locally. 

2. Interpretation 

(a) "Councillor" means the Member or former Member of the County 
or Community Council or the co-opted member of any 
committee or sub committee who is the subject of the allegation 
being considered by the Standards and Ethics Committee, 
unless stated otherwise. Unless the context requires otherwise it 
also includes the Councillor's nominated representative. 

(b) "Investigating Officer" means the Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales and includes his/her nominated representative. In the 
case of matters that have been referred to the Monitoring Officer 
for investigation, references to the "Investigating Officer", means 
the Monitoring Officer, or a person appointed by the Monitoring 
Officer to undertake the investigation, and his/her nominated 
representative. 

Agenda Item 5



 

 

(c) "Legal Advisor" means the person  responsible for providing 
legal advice to the Hearings Panel.  

3. Hearings Panel Sub-Committee 

3.1  A sub-committee of the Standards and Ethics Committee, referred to 
as ‘the Hearings Panel’ or ‘the Panel’, shall be set up to consider 
investigation reports, conduct hearings, make determinations, impose 
any sanctions and exercise any associated powers of the Committee 
granted by law or under this Procedure. 

3.2  The Hearings Panel shall be composed of three members of the 
Committee , at least two of whom must be independent members of 
the Committee.   

3.3  For complaints about a member of a community council, the Panel 
shall include the community council representative on the Committee, 
unless the complaint concerns a member of his/her own community 
council. 

3.4  The Hearings Panel shall elect one of the independent Panel 
members to serve as Chair for each meeting. 

3.5  Except for any decisions that may be expressed in this Procedure to 
be taken by the Chair, any decision of the Hearings Panel shall be 
made on the basis of a simple majority vote. 

 

4. Initial Determination 

4.1  Following receipt of a report and any recommendations from the   
Monitoring Officer, or a report from the Ombudsman, together with 
any recommendations of the Monitoring Officer, the Hearings Panel 
must make an initial determination, either: 

(a) that there is no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code 
of Conduct of the relevant Authority concerned (and must then notify 
any person who is the subject of the investigation, any person who 
made any allegation which gave rise to the investigation and the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales accordingly); or 

(b) that any person who is the subject of the investigation should 
be given the opportunity to make representations, either orally or in 
writing in respect of the findings of the investigation and any 
allegation that he or she has failed, or may have failed, to comply with 
the relevant Authority's Code of Conduct. 

4.2  If the Hearings Panel makes a determination under paragraph 4.1(b) 
above, the Panel will instruct arrangements to be made for a Hearing 
in accordance with the rules below. 



 

 

  

5. Prior to the Hearing  

5.1  The Investigating Officer shall set out in writing the results of their 
investigation, including copies of all written evidence the report relies 
upon in an ‘Investigation Report’; and send copies of the Investigation 
Report to the Committee and to the Councillor.  

5.2  The Panel shall write to the Councillor to notify him/her of the Panel’s 
initial determination (made under paragraph 4.1 above); provide 
information about the possible sanctions open to the Hearing if a 
breach of the Code of Conduct is found; and invite a written response 
to the findings of the Investigation Report to be submitted to the 
Panel within three weeks from receipt of the Panel’s notification letter.   

5.3 The Councillor shall be informed that his/her written response need 
not set out the Councillor's position in full, but it should: 

(a) indicate whether or not the Councillor will be represented and if 
so, by whom; 

(b) indicate whether the Councillor intends to apply to the Panel to 
have the press and public excluded from the hearing and any 
grounds for doing so;    

(c) indicate all areas of the Investigation Report that the Councillor 
intends to dispute, with brief reasoning; 

(d) attach all written evidence the Councillor intends to rely upon;  

(e) indicate any witnesses the Councillor wishes to call (which may 

include any witnesses referred to in the Investigation Report) and 

brief reasons for doing so (if any); and 

(f) indicate any dates or times when the Councillor, the 

representative  and any  witnesses they wish to call will be 

unavailable to attend a Hearing. 

5.4  The Panel shall also write to the Investigating Officer to notify him/her 
of the Panel’s initial determination (made under paragraph 4.1above), 
and to: 

(a) request that the Investigating Officer should attend the Hearing 
to present the Investigation Report and explain any matters in it, 
if the Panel considers it appropriate OR to ask if the Investigating 
Officer wishes to attend the Hearing for this purpose; 
 

(b) ask if there are any dates or times when the Investigating Officer 
will be unavailable to attend a Hearing; and 

 
(c) ask the Investigating Officer to indicate any witnesses he/she 

wishes to call and brief reasons for doing so (if any). 



 

 

5.5  Following receipt of the Councillor's and the Investigating Officer’s 

written response, the Panel shall write to the Investigating Officer and 

the Councillor confirming the following: 

(a) the date, time and location set for the hearing (having taken 
reasonable steps to accommodate the availability of the 
Councillor and the Investigating Officer); 

(b) whether the witnesses the Investigating Officer and the 
Councillor wishes to call will be allowed (giving reasons and 
allowing opportunity to respond if any witnesses are not to be 
allowed); and 

(c) any other steps the Panel may in its discretion require prior to the 
Hearing. 

6. The Monitoring Officer 

6.1  The Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer or another Legal 

Advisor shall be in attendance to advise the Hearings Panel. 

6.2  If the Monitoring Officer has investigated a complaint, he/she (or a 

nominated representative) will attend a Hearing in his/her role as the 

person who has investigated the complaint and will not be present to 

provide legal advice to the Committee. In such cases, the Deputy 

Monitoring Officer or another Legal Advisor will be present to advise the 

Committee. 

7. Powers of the Hearings Panel 

(a) The Chair, having taken legal advice from the Legal Advisor,   
may agree to vary this procedure in any particular instance 
where he/she is of the opinion that such a variation is necessary 
in the interests of fairness. 

(b) The Chair, having taken legal advice from the Legal Advisor,  
may also agree to vary this procedure in the interests of 
ensuring an efficient hearing (provided that such variation does 
not have any detrimental impact on the fairness of this 
procedure). Such power will include, for the avoidance of doubt: 

(i) the ability to combine Stages 1 and 2 of this procedure set 
out below so that both the Councillor and the Investigating 
Officer give combined submissions on both the facts and 
whether the facts amount to a breach of the Code of 
Conduct; and 

(j) the ability to request that the proceedings be conducted by 
exchange of written submissions only if the Councillor so 
agrees. 

(c) The members of the Panel may question anyone taking part in 
the proceedings on a point they raise in their representations or 



 

 

to seek clarification of views on points raised by others 
appearing at the Hearing. They may also request advice from 
the Legal Advisor. 

(d) The Panel may also require the attendance of a particular 
witness or the production of specific documentation where it 
appears that such additional material may resolve conflict on 
facts. 

(e) The sanctions and other powers available to the Panel are set 
out under paragraph 14 below. 

8. Representation 

The Councillor and the Investigating Officer may be represented or 
accompanied during the Hearing by Counsel or a Solicitor, or any other 
person he or she desires. The Councillor and the Investigating Officer 
are responsible for meeting the cost of any representation. 

9. Legal Advice 

The Committee may take legal advice from its Legal Advisor at any 
time before or during the Hearing or while the outcome is being 
considered. The substance of any legal advice given to the Panel 
should be shared with the Councillor and the Investigating Officer, if 
they are present, but not the detail of the request for legal advice. 

10. Introductions at the Hearing 

10.1 At the start of the Hearing, the Chair shall introduce each of the 

Members of the Hearings Panel and everyone involved in the Hearing.  

10.2 The Chair shall then explain the procedure which the Panel is to follow 

in its conduct of the Hearing and should obtain confirmation from 

everybody taking part in the Hearing that they have understood the 

procedure. 

 
11. Preliminary Procedural Issues 

 
(a) The Panel should then resolve any issues or 
disagreements about how the Hearing should continue, 
including whether all or part of the Hearing should be heard 
without the attendance of the public. 

(b) If either party want to adduce further information to the 
Panel they should make an application to the Panel for 
permission to do so prior to the commencement of the formal 
part of the Hearing. It will assist if the Legal Advisor and the 
other party have been provided with details of the late 
information as early as possible but at least two days before the 
commencement of the Hearing. The Panel retains sole 
discretion whether to permit the late introduction of information 



 

 

but shall always seek to ensure that neither party is prejudiced 
and all parties are able to present the evidence which is 
relevant to the matters before the Panel. 

(c) If the Councillor fails to attend the Hearing, the Panel 
may, depending on the reason for such non-attendance, 
continue with the proceedings or adjourn the Hearing to another 
date to give the Councillor a last opportunity to make 
representations. 

12. Stage 1 — Formal Findings of Fact 

(a) After dealing with any preliminary issues, the Panel should then 
move on to consider whether or not there are any significant 
disagreements about the facts contained in the Investigating 
Officer's report. 

(b) If there is no disagreement about the facts, the Panel can move 
on to the next stage of the Hearing. 

(c) If there is a disagreement about the facts, the Investigating 
Officer, if present, should be invited to make any necessary 
representations to support the relevant findings of fact in the 
Report (for the avoidance of doubt, the Investigating Officer may 
choose to invite the Panel to consider the evidence given in the 
Investigation Report and not make any further submission). With 
the Panel's permission, the Investigating Officer may call any 
necessary supporting witnesses to give evidence. The Panel 
may allow the Councillor an opportunity to challenge or comment 
upon any evidence put forward by any witness called by the 
Investigating Officer. 

(d) The Councillor should then have the opportunity to make 
representations to support his/her version of the facts and with 
the Panel's permission, to call any necessary witnesses to give 
evidence. 

 At any time, a Member of the Panel may question any of the 
people involved or any of the witnesses. The Panel may allow 
the Investigating Officer an opportunity to challenge or comment 
upon any evidence put forward by a witness called by the 
Councillor. 

(f) If the Councillor disagrees with any relevant fact in the 
Investigation Report, without having given prior notice of the 
disagreement, he/she must give good reasons for not 
mentioning it before the Hearing. If the Investigating Officer is 
not present, the Panel will consider whether or not it would be 
in the public interest to continue in his/her absence. After 
considering the Councillor's explanation for not raising the issue 
at an earlier stage, the Panel may then: 



 

 

 continue with the Hearing, relying on the information in the 
Investigation Report; 

 allow the Councillor to make representations about the 
issue, and invite the Investigating Officer to respond and 
call any witnesses, as necessary; or 

 adjourn the Hearing to arrange for appropriate witnesses 
to be present, or for the Investigating Officer to be 
present, if he or she is not already present. 

(g) The Panel shall then retire to consider their decision. Depending 
on the number of persons attending the Hearing, the Panel will 
either move to another room to deliberate on the representations 
and evidence in private or request the parties to leave the room 
during the deliberations. 

(h) Once the decision is reached and the meeting re-convened, the 
Chair will announce the Panel's findings of fact. 

13.  Stage 2 — Did the Member fail to follow the Code? 

(a) The Panel then needs to consider whether or not, based on the 
facts it has found, the Councillor has failed to follow the Code of 
Conduct. It should be noted that this stage of the hearing does 
not provide either the Councillor or the Investigating Officer an 
opportunity to re-examine the facts of the case in question. 

(b) The Councillor should be invited to give relevant reasons why the 
Panel should not decide that he or she has failed to follow the 
Code. 

(c) The Panel should then consider any verbal or written 
representations from the Investigating Officer. 

(d) The Panel may, at any time, question anyone involved on any 
point they raise in their representations. 

 The Councillor should be invited to make any final relevant 
points. 

 The parties shall then retire or the Panel will then move to another 
room to consider the representations and make its decision as to 
whether or not the Member has failed to follow the Code of 
Conduct. 

(g)  On the Hearing being re-convened, the Chair will announce the 
Panel's decision as to whether or not the Councillor has failed to 
follow the Code of Conduct. 



 

 

14.  Stage 3 — Breach of the Code and Sanctions 

14.1  If it is found that the Councillor has not failed to follow the Code of 

Conduct. 

If the Panel decides that the Councillor has not failed to follow 
the Code of Conduct, the Panel can nevertheless consider 
whether it should make any general recommendations to the 
Authority in question. 

14.2  If it is found that the Councillor has failed to follow the Code of 

Conduct (representations on sanction) 

(a If the Panel decides that the Councillor has failed to follow 
the Code of Conduct, it will consider any verbal or written 
representations from the Investigating Officer and the 
Councillor as to: 

(i) whether or not the Panel should set a sanction; and 

(ii) what form any sanction  should take. 

(b) The Panel may question the Investigating Officer and the 
Councillor and, if necessary, take legal advice, to make 
sure it has the information needed in order to make an 
informed decision. 

(c) The parties shall then retire or the Panel will then move to 
another room to consider whether or not to impose a 
sanction  on the Councillor and, if so, what the sanction  
should be. 

(d) On reconvening the Hearing, the Chair will announce the 
Panel's decision. 

14.3  If it is found by the Standards and Ethics Panel that a Councillor has 

failed to comply with an Authority's Code of Conduct (potential 

sanctions) 

14.3.1 If the Panel finds that a Councillor has breached the Code, it can 
decide. 

(a) that no action needs to be taken in respect of that failure; 

or 

(b) that the Councillor should be censured; or 

(c) that the Councillor should be suspended or partially 
suspended from being a Member or Co-opted Member of 
the Authority in question, for a period not exceeding six 
months. 



 

 

14.3.2 The Panel may request the Cllr to take any remedial action it 
considers to be reasonable and proportionate in the 
circumstances, for example to apologise or attend training, and 
it may adjourn a decision on sanction to allow time for the 
requested remedial action to be taken prior to a decision on 
sanction.   

15. Recommendations to the Authority 

After considering any verbal or written representations from the 

Investigating Officer and the Councillor (should it choose to do so), the 
Panel will consider whether or not it should make any recommendations 
to the Authority concerned, with a view to promoting high standards of 
conduct among Councillors. 

16. The Written Decision 

The Panel will announce its decision on the day and provide a short 
written confirmation of its decision on that day. It will  issue a full written 
decision, with reasons, within five working days of the end of the 
hearing .  and formally notify all parties (‘the Decision Notification’)  

17. Appeals 

17.1  Where the Standards and Ethics Panel determines that a person has 
failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, that person may seek 
permission to appeal against the determination to an Appeals Tribunal 
drawn from the Adjudication Panel for Wales. The grounds and 
procedure for making such an application are set out in the Local 
Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and 
Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended). 

17.2  Any such application must be instigated by giving notice in writing to 
the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales within 21 days of 
receiving notification of the Hearings Panel’s determination (the 
Decision Notification). 

18. Publication 

18.1  The Panel will produce a report on the outcome of the investigation 
and send a copy of this report to all parties, the Ombudsman and the 
Monitoring Officer within 14 days after the period for an appeal or after 
the appeal process has been completed, whichever is the later.   

18.2  Upon receipt of the Panel’s report, the Monitoring Officer shall arrange 
for the report to be published on the Authority's website for a period of 
21 days, make copies of the report publicly available upon request and 
publish a notice in a newspaper circulating in the area to explain the 
availability of the report. 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 16 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 16 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 16 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 16 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 16 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Ombudsman Referral of a complaint against Councillor Neil McEvoy
	Appendix B - Final S69 Investigation Report
	Appendix Bi- Appendices File 1-22
	Appendix Bii - App 19 (a&b) Transcript of Audio Recordings 11 May 2018
	Appendix C - Cllr McEvoy's Representations/Questionaire (undated)
	Appendix D - Counsel's Written Opinion


